FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/28/2018 4:05 PM NO. 49726-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 925, Petitioner,

v.

EVERGREEN FREEDOM FOUNDATION, d/b/a FREEDOM FOUNDATION, Respondent,

and

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF EARLY LEARNING, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

Robert H. Lavitt, WSBA No. 27758
Melissa Greenberg, WSBA No. 54132
SCHWERIN CAMPBELL BARNARD
IGLITZIN & LAVITT, LLP
18 West Mercer Street, Suite 400
Seattle, WA 98119

Attorneys for SEIU 925

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with its earlier decision which found that a ballot initiative took retroactive effect based on voter intent, as determined by the language of the ballot initiative, notwithstanding that the ballot initiative did not explicitly mandate retroactivity?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals' decision raise an issue of substantial public interest where it affirmed a lower court order involving the Public Records Act that failed to apply the law in effect at the time of the ruling on a motion for a preliminary injunction?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

WCCC, the largest child-care subsidy program in Washington, funds child care to support qualifying low-income working families. CP 276. The WCCC program is largely funded through the federal Temporary Assistance to Needy Families federal "welfare" program

("TANF"). *Id.* The WCCC subsidy is authorized as a public assistance program pursuant to RCW 74.04. *See* RCW 74.04.004(5) ("Public assistance" or "public assistance programs" means public aid to persons in need including ... working connections child care subsidies."). The Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS") maintains a list of child care providers who provide care to families that receive WCCC subsidies, which includes the names and personal contact information of providers. CP 276. DSHS shares that information with DEL to enable DEL to administer the WCCC program. *Id.*

SEIU 925 represents in-home child care providers, both those who are licensed to care for children in their own homes, and those who are exempt from licensing who are referred to as "family, friend and neighbor" providers ("FFN"). *Id.* at 275. Providers who meet certain criteria can provide non-licensed child care for their family, friends, and neighbors. WAC 170-290-0003 and WAC 170-290-0130 through 0167. SEIU 925 is the exclusive bargaining representative of both licensed and license-exempt providers and is signatory to a contract with the State of Washington that determines, among other things, the manner and rate of subsidy payments to providers throughout the state. RCW 41.56.028(2)(c); CP 275. SEIU 925 collects dues payments from its

members, but providers who do not wish to be members of Local 925 do not pay any dues or fees. CP 275.

FF has for several years used PRA requests to attempt to obtain lists of the names and contact information of child care providers represented by SEIU 925, and individual home care providers ("IPs") represented by SEIU 775, so that it can contact them as part of an advocacy campaign to persuade them to cease financially supporting their respective unions. CP 21. The Court of Appeals recently noted that FF's purpose in seeking to obtain these lists "appears to be political". *SEIU Healthcare 775NW v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Serv.*, 193 Wn. App. 377, 406, 377 P.3d 214 (2016), *review denied*, 186 Wn. 2d 1016, 380 P.3d 502 (2016) (Referring to request for list of IPs).

On November 4, 2016, DEL notified SEIU 925 that it received a PRA request from FF seeking:

- 1. The first name, last name, work mailing address, and work email address of all licensed family child care providers, as defined by RCW 41.56.030(7).
- 2. The first name, last name, work mailing address, and work email address of all license-exempt family child care providers, as defined by RCW 41.56.030(7).

CP 285-86.

FF informed DEL that it intended to use the requested information for the same purpose that it has sought similar lists for several years,

including the list of IPs at issue in *SEIU Healthcare 775NW*: "to inform providers of their constitutional and statutory rights regarding union membership and representation." ² *Id.* DEL notified SEIU 925 that absent a TRO prohibiting the release of the information, DEL intended to release the information by November 22, 2016. *Id.*

On November 8, 2016, Washington voters approved Initiative 1501 ("I-1501") by a vote of 70.64 percent to 29.63 percent.³ The law became effective on December 8, 2016. Const. art. II, § 1(d). I-1501's purpose is to "protect the safety and security of seniors and vulnerable individuals". CP 299. The law contains two independent statutory provisions protecting the names, addresses, and email addresses of family child care providers from disclosure by state agencies. First, RCW 43.17.410(1) prohibits the disclosure of this information by any state agency, including DEL. I-1501 §10; RCW 43.17.410(1). RCW 43.17.410(1) provides, "neither the state nor any of its agencies shall release sensitive personal information of vulnerable individuals or sensitive personal information of in-home caregivers for vulnerable populations, as those terms are defined in RCW 42.56.640." I-1501 §10;

-

² In SEIU Healthcare 775NW, 193 Wn. App. at 227, this Court noted that FF's stated purpose for requesting the list of IPs was "to correspond with the individual providers and notify them of their constitutional right to refrain from union membership and fee payments.".

³ See http://results.vote.wa.gov/results/current/State-Measures-Initiative-Measure-No-1501-concerns-seniors-and-vulnerable-individuals.html (last visited Nov. 29, 2016).

RCW 43.17.410(1). RCW 42.56.640(2)(b) provides that "sensitive personal information" includes names, addresses, and email addresses in addition to other personally identifying information. I-1501 §8(b); RCW RCW 42.56.640(2)(b). RCW 42.56.640(2)(a) provides that "in-home caregivers for vulnerable populations" includes "family child care providers as defined in RCW 41.56.030." I-1501 §8(2)(a); RCW 42.56.640(2)(a).

In addition to prohibiting the release of the requested information by any state agency in RCW 43.17.410(1), I-1501 amended the PRA to explicitly exempt such information from disclosure. *See* I-1501 §8(1); RCW 42.56.640(1) ("Sensitive personal information of vulnerable individuals and sensitive personal information of in-home caregivers for vulnerable populations is exempt from inspection and copying under this chapter.").

The initiative states that RCW 43.17.410(1) and RCW 42.56.640(1) promote the public policy of protecting vulnerable populations from identity theft, consumer fraud, and other forms of victimization. CP 299, 304, 306; I-1501\\$10(1); I-1501\\$4(2); RCW 9.35.001(2); RCW 43.17.410(1). The initiative further states that the law must be liberally construed to promote this public policy. CP 306; I-1501(12).

SEIU 925 filed a motion for a TRO on November 16, 2016. On November 18, the parties agreed to extend the November 22 deadline until December 9 so that the requested records would not be released prior to a hearing on SEIU 925's motion for a preliminary injunction. CP 311, 317. As a result, the trial court did not rule on SEIU 925's TRO motion.

On December 9, 2016, the Honorable Mary Sue Wilson, Thurston County Superior Court, denied Plaintiff's motion for a preliminary injunction. CP 967-68. Judge Wilson explained her ruling in an oral decision that is incorporated into the trial court's written order. CP 968; Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("VRP").

In a ruling from the bench, Judge Wilson acknowledged reaching a different conclusion "a few weeks ago" in a similar PRA case, finding likelihood that RCW 74.04.060 exempted similar records from disclosure. VRP 42:5-11. With regard to I-1501, the trial court acknowledged that the law prohibited disclosure of the requested records and that it was effective at the time the trial court decided this case. VRP 43:9-17. However, the court concluded that because FF requested the records before the effective date of the initiative, it must determine whether I-1501 applied retroactively. The court acknowledged that an initiative will be applied retroactively where there is an indication that the voters so intended, and that such an indication may be found in "a legislative statement of a strong

public policy that would be served by retroactive application." VRP 43:18-44:8. Judge Wilson found that the initiative contained a legislative statement of a public policy "to protect seniors and vulnerable individuals from identity theft and other financial crimes by preventing the release of public records that could be used to victimize them." VRP 44:17-21. However, the trial court concluded that this policy would not be served by applying the law to pending PRA requests and that an average voter would not believe that the initiative was intended to prevent agencies from continuing to release public records that could be used to victimize seniors and vulnerable individuals when it became law. VRP 45:1-11. The trial court reasoned that the initiative did not contain "a statement that it's important to stop something right now that's in progress." VRP 45:1-4. Judge Wilson thus concluded that the law did not prevent state agencies from continuing to release records that contained sensitive personal information of in-home caregivers for vulnerable populations in response to pending PRA requests. Id.

Noting that this matter raised two "novel" issues on which there is no appellate authority, the trial court ordered DEL not to release the disputed records until December 19, 2016, in order to give SEIU 925 the opportunity to file this appeal and seek emergency injunctive relief to preserve the fruits of its appeal. VRP 52:13-16, 55:17-23.

On January 25, 2017, Division II Commissioner Eric Schmidt granted SEIU 925's motion for emergency injunctive relief and enjoined the release of the records until this appeal is resolved. Commissioner's Ruling (January 25, 2017).

On September 18, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued the decision below, affirming the Superior Court's order denying Local 925's motion for injunctive relief. *SEIU 925 v. State of Wash, Dept. of Early Learning*, No. 49726-3-II (September 18, 2018) (Appendix at 1-19).

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court should accept discretionary review of the decision below pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), because the decision conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision in *State v. Rose*, 191 Wn. App. 858, 365 P.3d 756 (2015), which makes clear that the retroactive application of a ballot initiative can be established by voter intent as determined from the perspective of an average voter examining the initiative's language, and does not require an explicit statement of retroactivity.

Review is also warranted because the decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). At issue, is what law should apply when a court reviews a PRA request – the law in effect at the time of the request, or the law in place at the time of the court's determination, even if an

intervening ballot initiative is not determined to apply retroactively.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Decision Conflicts with a Published Court of Appeals' Decision.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. The decision below conflicts with *State v. Rose*, 191 Wn. App. 858, 365 P.3d 756 (2015). Under the standard outlined therein, the Court of Appeals should have given I-1501 retroactive effect.

State v. Rose established the test for determining whether a voter initiative applies retroactively. The Rose court explained that the effect of an initiative depends on the intent of the voters. 191 Wn. App. at 869. In Rose, the court found that the ballot initiative's language specifying, "The people intend to stop treating adult marijuana use as a crime and try a new approach", adequately conveyed voters' intent to cease pending marijuana prosecutions against adults. 191 Wn. App. at 868.

The language in I-1501 is similarly definite—"It is the intent of this initiative to protect the safety and security of seniors and vulnerable individuals by prohibiting the release of certain public records that could facilitate identity theft and other financial crimes against seniors and vulnerable individuals." CP 299. Furthermore, the initiative enacted by the state's voters declares, "It is the intent of part three of this initiative to

protect the safety and security of seniors and vulnerable individuals from identify theft and other financial crimes by preventing the release of public records that could be used to victimize them." CP 304. These two statements fairly convey the voters' intent to prevent the release of records of those who work with seniors and vulnerable individuals, including information subject to pending PRA requests. Thus, this language is as forceful and clear as the language in *Rose*.

The court below sought to distinguish the situation in *Rose* from the situation before the court, finding that "the language in I-1501 is not as direct as the language in *Rose*," but ultimately, this distinction is inapt. *SEIU 925 v. State of Wash., Dep't. of Early Learning*, No. 49726-3-II at *11. While the court below acknowledged "the strong policy language that seniors and vulnerable adults be protected," the court was not convinced that the language evinced retroactive intent. *Id.* Instead, the court below found, "There is no clear policy statement showing voter intent to prevent the disclosure of provider information in a retroactive manner." *Id.* As a result of this lack of a definite statement of retroactive intent, the court below held that the language of I-1501 "does not fairly convey the voters' intent to apply the exemptions retroactively." *Id.* However, the language at issue in the decision below and in *Rose* is equally prescriptive. In its brief analysis, the court below relied on the

lack of a clear policy statement, but a clear statement mandating retrospective application was not required by *Rose*, and in fact the language at issue in *Rose* contained no explicit statement regarding retroactivity. *See Rose*, 191 Wn. App. at 862-63, 868. Because the court below failed to apply the standard set forth in *Rose*, the decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals neglected to examine the language in the official voters' guide as directed by the *Rose* court. The court in Rose found that after examining the initiative language itself, the court should then turn to the language in the voters' guide if the court is not satisfied that the language is clear enough to determine retroactivity. Rose, 191 Wn. App. at 869. Here, the court in the decision below declined to examine this language in its opinion after conducting a conclusory analysis of the voter intent expressed in I-1501. The statements in the voters' guide—"We cannot let fraudulent telemarketers and other criminals continue to prey on them. We need the protections offered by I-1501"— further highlight voters' intent that the initiative take retroactive effect. Declaration of Robert Lavitt in Support of SEIU 925's Motion for Expedited Consideration and Emergency Motion for Injunctive Relief Pending Appeal ("Lavitt Dec.") Ex. A at 5 (Voter's Guide: 2016 General Election, Initiative Measure No. 1501) (Nov. 8, 2016). In refusing to

examine voters' intent as expressed in the voters' guide, the court below issued an opinion which conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

As a result, the Washington Supreme Court should grant review and reverse on the grounds that the Court of Appeals should have found I-1501 operates retroactively in conformity with *Rose*.

B. Interpreting the PRA Consistently to Ensure that the Law Applied Is the Law in Effect at the Time of the Records' Potential Release Is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this matter presents an issue of substantial public interest. The conflict between the decision below and *Puget Sound Advocates for Ret. Action v. State of Wash. Dep't of Soc. and Health Servs.*, No. 50430-8-II, (October 30, 2018) (unpublished) ("*PSARA*") reveals that the issue of whether to apply the law governing at the time of the request or the law at the time the government agency was under the obligation to release the information is an issue of substantial public importance.

PSARA also dealt with I-1501, and in that case, the Court of Appeals held,

[R]egardless of whether I-1501 can be applied retroactively, RCW 43.17.410(1) operates prospectively to prohibit DSHS from releasing individual providers' names and associated birthdates after the effective date of I-1501 regardless of the date the public records request was filed.

No. 50430-8-II at *1 (emphasis added). These two appellate decisions rely on two different Washington Supreme Court cases which provide contrary guidance.

In the decision below, the Court of Appeals relied on a footnote in *John Doe A v. Wash. State Patrol*, which stated:

After the records request was made, and prior to oral argument, the legislature amended RCW 4.24.550(3)(a) to add 'and any individual who requests information regarding a specific offender.' Laws of 2015, ch. 261, § 1(3). Because this section was not made retroactive, we consider the statute as it existed at the time the request was made. However, the new language would not change our result.

185 Wn.2d 363, 375 n. 2, 374 P.3d 63 (2016), review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1019 (2017).

Relying on this dicta, the court below determined that I-1501 was not operating prospectively if the court applied the initiative to a PRA request that was already pending when the initiative took effect.⁴

presumption that, "A vested right in public documents is created when a request for the public records is made." *SEIU 925 v. State of Wash., Dep't of Early Learning,* No. 49726-3-II at *12. "A vested right entitled to protection under the due process clause: must be something more than a 'mere expectation based upon an anticipated continuance of the existing law; it must have become a title, legal or equitable, to the present or future enjoyment of property, a demand, or a legal exemption from a demand by another." Caritas Servs., Inc. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 123 Wn. 2d 391, 414, 869 P.2d 28,

41 (1994) (quoting *In re Marriage of MacDonald*, 104 Wn.2d 745, 750, 709 P.2d 1196 (1985)) (emphasis in original). Despite reliance by the court below on the statement in *Dragonslayer* that a public records request creates a vested right, this statement should not govern because the *Dragonslayer* court did not engage in a vested rights analysis and instead decided the case based on the legislature having specifically removed the

⁴ To the extent that the discussion of vested rights in the Court of Appeals' decision below is animating the court's analysis, the court below comes to the misguided

Reaching the opposite conclusion, the *PSARA* court relied on *In re. Pers. Restraint of Flint*, 174 Wn.2d 539, 547, 277 P.3d 657 (2012) for the proposition that the court should apply the law in operation at the time of the triggering event, which was not when the request was made but rather when the government agency's obligation to release the information became operative. No. 50430-8-II at *4 . Had the Division II panel in *SEIU 925* relied on *In re. Pers. Restraint of Flint*, it would have analyzed the trial court's order based on the law in effect on December 9, 2016 – the day after I-1501 took effect. Presumably, the panel would have reversed the trial court decision and found the requested records exempt from disclosure under the PRA, as amended by I-1501.

The Supreme Court of Washington should grant review to resolve this issue of substantial public importance and decide the issue in conformity with the Supreme Court's decision in *In re. Pers. Restraint of Flint, supra*.

VII. CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court of Washington should accept review under RAP 13.4(b) for the reasons indicated in Part V in order to address whether I-1501 should be applied to the FF's PRA request, either because I-1501 applies retroactively, or because I-1501 was the law in effect at the

retroactive provision from the bill. *Dragonslayer, Inc. v. Washington State Gambling Comm'n*, 139 Wn. App. 433, 448-49, 161 P.3d 428, 435 (2007).

time the trial court rendered its decision.