FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/28/2018 3:10 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96578-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL UNION LOCAL 925, a labor organization,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF EARLY LEARNING, a state agency, and EVERGREEN FREEDOM FOUNDATION, a non-profit corporation,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPRMEME COURT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MARGARET C. McLEAN

WSBA No. 27558

WSBA No. 27243

Assistant Attorney General

CATHERINE S. BLINN

Assistant Attorney General

Labor and Personnel Division

PO Box 40145

Olympia, WA 98504-0145

(360) 664-4167

OID No. 91032

I. INTRODUCTION

The Freedom Foundation (the Foundation) submitted a public record request to the Department of Early Learning (the Department)¹ asking for the names, mailing addresses, and email addresses for all licensed and license exempt family child care providers. The Department determined that no statutory exemption prevented release of the requested information and that it should be released. It then notified the child care providers' bargaining representative, Service Employees International Union Local 925 (SEIU 925), that the information would be released unless prevented by a timely court order. SEIU 925 sought and was denied a preliminary injunction and a temporary restraining order preventing release of responsive records.

SEIU 925 then filed this appeal. The central issue on appeal is whether this public record request is governed by two sections of Initiative 1501 (I-1501) (codified in RCW 42.56.640 and RCW 43.17.410). These statutes, if applicable, would prevent release of the requested information. However, these statutes were not in effect when the Department received

¹ The Department of Early Learning became the Department of Children, Youth, and Families on July 1, 2018, during the pendency of this case. Laws of 2017, 3d Spec. Sess., ch. 6.

the public record request and determined that the requested information must be released.

The Court of Appeals held that the Department must apply the law that was in effect when the Foundation made its public record request, and that I-1501 does not apply retroactively. It affirmed the trial court's order denying an injunction.

The Department takes no position as to whether this Court should grant the petition for review and stands ready to release the requested information when directed or permitted to do so.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

If the Court grants review, two issues would be presented:

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals correctly determine that the statutes established by I-1501 did not apply retroactively?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals correctly determine that, when a statute affecting the disclosure of records is amended after a party has made a records request, the controlling law is the law in existence at the time the request was made?

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Washington State subsidizes child care expenses of qualified low-wage working families. RCW 43.215.020, .135, .495 (Recodified as RCW 43.216.020, .135, .495). The State offers subsidies to qualified families for child care through several programs, the largest of which is the Working Connections Child Care (WCCC) Program. RCW 43.215.135

(Recodified as RCW 43.216.135); WAC 170-290-0001 to -0240 (Recodified as WAC 110-15-0001 to -0240). The Department (now DCYF) administers the WCCC Program.

Child care in Washington State is provided in two different care settings, child care centers and in-home child care. CP 904. Child care centers are commercial operations (for profit or not-for-profit) that hire staff and are usually located in a building or school other than a private residence or in a faith-based space. *Id.* Child care center provider information is not at issue in this case.

In-home child care is provided by family child care providers, usually in the provider's residence or in the child's own home. WAC 170-296A-0010 (Recodified as WAC 110-300B-0010); CP 904. Family child care providers can be either licensed or licensed-exempt. CP 904-05. SEIU 925 represents all family child care providers—both licensed and licensed-exempt providers,—for purposes of collective bargaining with the State. RCW 41.56.028.

On November 2, 2016, Foundation employee Maxford Nelson made a request under the Public Records Act (PRA) to the Department for two records. The first was for a list containing the first name, last name, work mailing address, and work email address of all licensed family child care providers, as defined by RCW 41.56.030(7). CP 909. The second was for a

similar list but for license-exempt family child care providers. *Id.* CP 909-10. On November 4, 2016, the Department notified the SEIU 925 that it intended to release the provider lists on November 22, 2016, unless the SEIU 925 produced a court order enjoining disclosure. CP 912-13. On November 16, 2016, SEIU 925 filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief Under Public Records Act to enjoin release of the records, as well as a motion for a Temporary Restraining Order to prohibit release. CP 5-14, 257-72. Both motions were heard on December 9, 2016.²

Meanwhile, six days after the Foundation filed its public record request, the voters approved I-1501 at the 2016 general election. *See* Governor's Proclamation re I-1501 (Dec. 7, 2016). I-1501 took effect the day before the hearing on the motions. *See* Laws of 2017, ch. 4. I-1501 includes two new sections of law relevant herein: Section 8, codified as RCW 42.56.640; and Section 10, codified as RCW 43.17.410. Those sections exempt from public disclosure "sensitive personal information of in-home caregivers for vulnerable populations," and relevant terms are

² A superior court commissioner heard arguments on SEIU 925's motion for a TRO but did not rule on the motion. Instead, the commissioner asked the Foundation and the Department to refrain from releasing the records on November 22, and to schedule a hearing on SEIU 925's request for a preliminary injunction as soon as possible. The parties agreed. *See SEIU 925 v. Dep't of Early Learning*, No. 49726-3-II, slip op. at 5 (Sep. 18, 2018).

defined to specifically include the names, addresses, and email addresses of family child care providers within the exemption.

At the close of the December 9, 2016, hearing, the trial court denied the SEIU 925's requests for a preliminary injunction but continued the temporary restraining order to allow SEIU 925 an opportunity to file an appeal. Verbatim Report of Proceedings at 39-56. These rulings were memorialized in a written order entered that day. CP 967-68. SEIU 925 timely appealed to the Court of Appeals, which, on September 18, 2018, issued its unpublished decision affirming the trial court's ruling that the relevant portions of I-1501 did not apply retroactively. SEIU 925 v. State of Wash., Dept. of Early Learning, No. 49726-3-II (September 18, 2018). SEIU 925 now seeks discretionary review by this Court.

IV. ARGUMENT

SEIU 925 argues that the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in the instant case conflicts with two other Court of Appeals' decisions, one unpublished and one published. It additionally argues that this case involves matters of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court. The Department takes no position on those arguments and whether review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b). Should this Court accept review, the Department may exercise its option under RAP 10.1(b)(2) to file a supplemental brief on the merits.

In either event, the Department remains ready to release the requested records when permitted or directed to do so by the Court.

V. CONCLUSION

The Department of Children, Youth, and Families does not take a position as to whether this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision. The Department remains ready to release the requested records when permitted or directed to do so by the Court.